IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

SID J. WHITE 007 21 1992 Chief Deputy Clerk

JOSEPH INNES

v.

:

PETITIONER

Case No. 79,902 MO approblé

STATE OF FLORIDA

RESPONDENT

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

ALLYN GIAMBALVO Assistant Public Defender Criminal Court Complex 5100 144th Avenue North Clearwater, FL 34620 (813) 530-6594

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED
WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT MUST FOLLOW
THE REQUIREMENTS OF 39.059 IN ALL
CASES INVOLVING JUVENILE DEFENDANTS
UNLESS THERE IS AN EXPRESS WAIVER
BY THE JUVENILE DEFENDANT?4-8
CONCLUSION9
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE9

TABLE OF CITATIONS

PAGE NO.

<u>Crosskey v. State, </u>
17 FLW D1672 (Fla. 2d DCA July 10, 1992)
<u>Davis v. State</u> ,
528 So.2d 521 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988)
<u>Hill v. State</u> ,
17 FLW D2067 (Fla. 1st DCA September 4, 1991)
Keith v. State,
542 So.2d 440 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989)
Lang v. State,
566 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990)
McCray v. State,
588 So.2d 298 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991)
Rathbone v. State,
448 So.2d 85 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984)
Stanley v. State,
582 So.2d 140 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991)
State v. Cain,
381 So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1980)
State v. Rhoden,
448 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 1984)
<u>Sullivan v. State,</u>
587 So.2d 599 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991)
<u>Taylor v. State, </u>
534 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988)
Toussaint v. State,
592 So.2d 770 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991)
OTHER AUTHORITIES
39.047(4)(e)(5), Fla.Stat
39.059, Fla.Stat

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOSEPH INNES,

Petitioner,

VS.

Case No: 79,902

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant, Petitioner, Joseph Innes, seeks to have reviewed a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Second District, dated and filed on May 6, 1992. The Petitioner was the original defendant in the trial court and the appellant before the District Court of Appeal. The Respondent, State of Florida, was the appellee before the District Court of Appeal. This was an appeal by Petitioner from his conviction and sentence entered by the Circuit Court In and For Pinellas County.

The State Attorney for Pinellas County, Florida, direct filed an information charging Petitioner, Joseph Innes, with burglary of a dwelling and grand theft, [Case No. 91-7561] failure to appear, [Case No. 91-5368] burglary of a dwelling, [Case No. 91-6380] fraudulent use of a credit card, [Case No. 91-2626] and dealing in stolen property and grand theft [Case No. 91-523] (R92,58,81,39,1) Subsequently, Petitioner entered a plea of nolo contendere on the understanding he would receive no more than four years incarceration followed by two year's probation

and he would pay restitution, the amount to be determined later.

(R36-38;53-57;76-80;87-91;111-116) On July 30, 1991, Petitioner

was adjudicated guilty and sentenced as previously agreed upon.

(R19-31) At the time of sentencing, Petitioner was a juvenile.

(R5) Although the court was aware that Petitioner was a juvenile and attempted to comply with Florida Statute 39.057, (R152-153) the court failed to comply with all the requirements. On August 16, 1991, Petitioner timely filed a notice of appeal. (R117)

The District Court of Appeal, Second District, affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentence in a written opinion citing Davis v. State, 528 So.2d 521 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988), but also recognizing conflict with the Fifth District in Lang v. State, 566 So.2d 1344 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). Petitioner sought the discretionary review of this court on the jurisdictional grounds that the instant opinion was expressly and directly in conflict with the decisions of other district courts of appeal. This court accepted jurisdiction in its order of September 28, 1992.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Subsequent to its decision in the instant case, the Second District in an en banc opinion in <u>Crosskey v. State</u>, 17 FLW D1672 (Fla. 2d DCA July 10, 1992) specifically receded from its earlier opinion in <u>Davis v. State</u>, therefore, by implication its decision in Petitioner's case is erroneous. The applicable case law all points toward the conclusion that a prior plea agreement by the defendant does not necessarily constitute a waiver of his right to be sentenced in accordance with the requirements of Florida Statute 39.059. The adherence to these requirements is necessary because of the unlimited discretion on the part of State Attorneys to prosecute juveniles as adults. Furthermore, the reasons given orally by the trial court to justify imposition of an adult sentence are totally insufficient.

QUESTION PRESENTED

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT MUST FOLLOW THE REQUIREMENTS OF 39.059¹ IN ALL CASES INVOLVING JUVENILE DEFENDANTS UNLESS THERE IS AN EXPRESS WAIVER BY THE JUVENILE DEFENDANT?

In the instant case the District Court affirmed petitioner's conviction and sentence citing one of its earlier opinions, <u>Davis v. State</u>, 528 So.2d 521 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Since reaching its decision in May of 1992, the Second District in <u>Crosskey v. State</u>, 17 FLW D1672 (Fla. 2d DCA July 10, 1992), an en banc opinion, receded from its earlier decision in <u>Davis</u>, supra. The court held that it is incumbent upon the trial court to follow the procedures in 39.059 and furthermore a plea in exchange for a certain sentence did not necessarily waive the statutory requirements. By receding from <u>Davis</u>, supra., the court has removed the basis for its decision in Petitioner's case, therefore, the decision therein is necessarily erroneous.

Other district courts have also held that absent a waiver by the juvenile, the trial court must strictly comply with the requirements of Chapter 39 and that it is fundamental error for the trial court to impose adult sanctions without the required findings, regardless of whether it was after trial or upon a plea. see <u>Toussaint v. State</u>, 592 So.2d 770 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991);

¹ Formerly Florida Statute 39.111

² The court decided to hear <u>Crosskey</u> en banc in order to resolve intradistrict conflict between <u>Davis</u> and <u>Rathbone v. State</u>, 448 So.2d 85 (Fla.2d DCA 1984).

Keith v.State, 542 So.2d 440 (Fla. 5th DCA 1989); Taylor v.
State, 534 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988); Lang v. State, 566
So.2d 1354 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); Sullivan v. State, 587 So.2d 599
(Fla. 5th DCA 1991); Stanley v. State, 582 So.2d 140 (5th DCA 1991).

In <u>State v. Rhoden</u>, 448 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 1984), this court declared:

"The legislature mandated that trial judges consider the statutory criteria in order to protect the rights which the legislature has given to juveniles. Trial courts cannot avoid that mandate absent an intelligent and knowing waiver of that right by a juvenile."

Florida has bestowed upon juvenile offenders the <u>right</u> to be treated differently from their adult counterparts. Part of this right entails the trial court's duty to consider specific statutory criteria and give specific reasons for imposing any adult sanction. Respondent's most logical argument would be that by pleading to a specific sentence, petitioner not only waived his right to consideration of the statutory criteria but also dispensed with the need for it. There is nothing in the record herein which suggests that petitioner waived or bargained away his rights under 39.059. To the contrary, both defense counsel and the state attorney informed the trial judge he was still required to give reasons on the record for imposing an adult sentence. There is certainly no evidence of any specific waiver on the part of petitioner. see McCray v. State, 588 So.2d 298 (Fla.2d DCA 1991).

The more difficult question is whether by agreeing to plead

in exchange for a specific sentence, petitioner dispensed with the need for the court to follow the requirements of Chapter 39. Perhaps the most pressing reason is the absolute discretion the state attorney has to direct file charges against a juvenile in adult court. Under section 39.047(4)(e)(5), the state attorney may direct file against any child over the age of sixteen whenever "in his judgment and discretion the public interest requires that adult sanctions be considered or imposed." This discretion has been held to be absolute. see State v. Cain, 381
So.2d 1361 (Fla. 1980). The requirements of 39.059, calling for a pre-dispositional report, consideration of certain statutory factors and enunciation of specific findings of fact and reasons for imposition of an adult sanction is necessary as a check against an abuse of prosecutorial discretion.

In addition, the reasons given by the trial court in the instant case were woefully insufficient. The reasons cited by the court were:

"First of all, I'll find that the public is in need of protection from him. Secondly, that HRS has indicated that they feel the juvenile system can no longer handle him. Thirdly, there appears to be an increasing degree in his criminality. And while all of the crimes up to this point appear to be property as opposed to personal, based on the criterion on Florida Statute 39, I find that adult sanctions were appropriate." (R152-3)

Florida Statute 39.059 require that the court consider the following criteria:

- "1. The seriousness of the offense to the community and whether the protection of the community requires adult disposition.
- 2. Whether the offense was committed in an aggressive,

violent, premeditated, or willful manner.

- 3. Whether the offense was against persons or against property, greater weight being given to offenses against persons, especially if personal injury resulted.
- 4. The sophistication and maturity of the child.
- 5. The record and previous history of the child, including:
- a. Previous contacts with the department, the Department of Corrections, other law enforcement agencies or community control:
- b. Prior periods of probation or community control; c.Prior adjudications that the child committed a delinquent act or violation of the law; and
- d.Prior commitments to institutions.
- 6. The prospects for adequate protection of the public and the likelihood of reasonable rehabilitation of the child if he is assigned to services and facilities for delinquent children."

The court's findings herein, at best, only address three of the six criteria. Failure to address even one requires reversal and remand. see <u>Hill v. State</u>, 17 FLW D2067 (Fla. 1st DCA September 4, 1992) Moreover, the reasons given were deficient because the trial court did not set forth sufficient detail for its decision, but rather drew conclusions without setting forth any factual basis.

Furthermore, it was incumbent upon the trial court to determine the suitability or non-suitability of adult sanctions for petitioner <u>before</u> any other determination of disposition was made. <u>Rathbone v. State</u>, 448 So.2d 85 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). In the instant case such determination was made after petitioner was already sentenced. By doing so, the trial court undermined the intent of the statute which was to make trial judges give careful and thoughtful consideration before imposing adult sanctions on

juveniles. By considering the statutory criteria after sentence was imposed, the trial court was in essence merely rationalizing a decision that had already been made.

CONCLUSION

The decision of the District Court of Appeal, Second District, that the petitioner, Joseph Innes, seeks to have reviewed is in direct and express conflict with the decisions of the District Courts of Appeal, for the Fourth and Fifth Districts, as well as, a subsequent en banc decision of the Second District itself. Because of the reasons and authorities set forth in this brief, it is submitted that the decision in the present case is erroneous and that the decisions of the District Courts of Appeal for the Fourth and Fifth Districts and the en banc decision of the Second District are correct and should be approved by this court as the controlling law of this state. Petitioner, Joseph Innes, therefore, asks this Court to enter its order quashing the decision sought to be reviewed, and approve the conflicting decisions cited as correct and granting such other relief as shall seem right and proper to the court.