STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant/Petitioner, JOSEPH INNES, demanded a jury trial on his various charges. (R. 69,85,105)

At the sentencing hearing, talk immediately centered around Appellant's guidelines score. (R. 124-135) After discussing restitution and victim impact, the court made a sentencing offer. (R. 142) Thereafter, Appellant and his public defender discussed the offer. Off the record. (R. 144) When discussing the sentencing option of "boot camp", the court thought that he might have to sentence Appellant as a juvenile. (R. 145) The public defender, however, indicated that there was a youthful offender boot camp. (R. 145) Once again, there was a brief recess for reconsideration of the sentencing scheme. (R. 146) Ultimately, Appellant's public defender announced that his client would enter a plea of guilty with the understanding that the would receive a four year youthful offender sentence.

Upon questioning by the court, Appellant proceeded to waive his various constitutional rights. (R. 148) The nature and extent of the prison sentence he was about to receive was outlined to him. (R. 149) Appellant understood what was going on in court that day. (R. 149) After sentence was pronounced, the public defender agreed that the judge was required to make certain findings for the record. (R. 152)

The court specifically found that the public needed protection from Appellant. (R. 153) He adopted HRS's finding that the juvenile justice system can no longer handle Appellant. (R. 153) He noted that there was an increasing degree in

- 1 -

Appellant's criminality. (R. 153) Finally, based upon the criterion of Florida Statute 39, the judge found adult sanctions to be appropriate. (R. 153) The public defender lodged no objections to these findings. (R. 153)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Inasmuch as Appellant now argues that the Second District has aligned itself with its sister districts on this issue, there is no conflict left for this Court to resolve. Therefore, he should be directed to go back to the trial court for correction of sentence without further consideration by this Court.

In any event, Appellant bargained for his particular adult sentence and cannot now be heard to disallow it. The Second District allows juvenile defendant's to enter into plea deals without regard to Chapter 39 considerations.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

WHETHER THIS COURT HAS CONFLICT JURISDICTION WHERE THE LOWER COURT HAS ALREADY UNDERTAKEN TO ALIGN ITSELF WITH ITS SISTER DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL AND, ALTERNATIVELY, WHETHER THIS COURT CAN AFFIRM THIS SENTENCE INASMUCH AS APPELLANT BARGAINED FOR HIS ADULT SENTENCE?

Appellant has argued that the Second District has already admitted its error in this case when it issued its opinion in <u>Croskey v. State</u>, 601 So.2d 1326 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) which, ultimately, aligns this district with the Fifth District and its opinion in <u>Lange v. State</u>, 566 So.2d 1354 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990). The flip side of his argument automatically slips the carpet of jurisdiction out from underneath this Honorable Court.

Essentially, there is no longer any inter-district conflict for this Court to resolve. In <u>Croskey</u>, the Second District cited, with approval, the <u>Lange</u> decision. It was the <u>Lange</u> decision that the Second District found to be in conflict with its previous decision in <u>Davis v. State</u>, 528 So.2d 521 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). Thus, inasmuch as this Court no longer has to "right" one of its inferior courts, there is no longer any need to issue an opinion on an issue which is the subject of inter-district agreement.

Of course, Appellant will claim that his particular case has not had the benefit of the Second District's "righting" of itself. Well, the Second District in <u>Croskey</u> specifically indicated that it receded from <u>Davis</u> and its progeny. <u>Croskey</u>, at 1327. If one accepts Appellant's proposition that it is fundamental reversible error to have sentenced him without

- 4 -

specific findings relating to adult sentencing, then, ipso facto, his sentence in "illegal". Surely, Appellant cannot now claim that he received an "legal" sentence and, at the same time, ask this Honorable Court to correct it. Therefore, in conformity with Rule 3.800, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure, this Court is now asked to remand this case so that Appellant can appropriately move for correction of his sentence. Upon remand, the Second District will be free to impose an adult sanction under <u>Croskey</u>.

Should, for some reason, this Court still wish to entertain this issue despite the admitted lack of conflict, Appellee briefly offers the following. However, it must be noted that nothing in the foregoing argument should in any way be taken as concession of error on any issue.

Appellant desires to be resentenced under the terms of <u>Croskey</u>. More he cannot ask for. Yet, therein, the Second District made a point to say that the sentencing court need only "consider" the criteria as set forth in Section 39.059(7), Florida Statutes. It appears form the record that the trial judge considered all such factors. After all, he found that the public needs protection from Appellant. (R. 153). He found that HRS and the juvenile justice system can no longer handle Appellant. (R. 153) He further found that Appellant appeared to be engaged in an increasing degree of criminality even though such crimes were mainly perpetrated against property. (R. 153) Such findings take into consideration the criteria in 39.059(c)1,3,5, and 6. Finally, the judge referred to Section 39

- 5 -

in general and found that adult sanctions were appropriate. (R. 153) Thus, by inescapable implication, the court took into consideration all the criterion, even though he may not have specifically enumerated a finding concerning criteria 2 (premeditation and willfulness). Although Appellant may point to <u>Hill v. State</u>, 17 F.L.W. D2067 (Fla. 1st DCA September 4, 1992) for the proposition that failure to so much as consider just one of the enumerated criteria is reversible error, the <u>Hill</u> decision has, as of this writing, been held by that court. Ergo, inasmuch as the <u>Croskey</u> decision only requires "consideration" of the criteria, the trial court cannot be found to have committed error by failing to make the sort of copious findings and conclusions desired by Appellant.

Moreover, in <u>Croskey</u>, the Second District noted that this Court in <u>State v. Rhoden</u>, 448 So.2d 1013 (Fla. 1984) found "that a juvenile may waive the right to have the statutory criteria considered and findings made by the trial court, but the waiver must be voluntarily and knowingly made". Additionally, the <u>Croskey</u> court found it possible for a juvenile to receive adult sanctions by way of a negotiated plea agreement, even though such sanctions may be imposed without regard to Section 39 requirements. <u>Id</u>, at 1327. Depicted in this case is a juvenile who, from the outset, desired an adult jury trial and looked to the guidelines for sentencing. He waived such adult rights along with all other adult constitutional rights. He twice took time out to reflect upon the court's sentencing offer and, thereafter, agreed to it. He does not lay claim to any concept of

- 6 -

"involuntary plea" in this case. Accordingly, this Court is free to conclude that Appellant simply got what he bargained for from the outset and that there was no need to consider the adult sentencing criteria.

CONCLUSION

In the final analysis, all that this Court can do for Appellant is allow him to be resentenced as an adult. At most, this Court can agree that he bargained for the sentence he got and that he is not entitled to any sort of resentencing. Thus, the best course of action (short of affirming this case based upon his acceptance of the plea offer) this Court can take would be to direct Appellant back to the trial court so that he can move to correct his sentence under the terms of <u>Croskey</u>.

WHEREFORE, this Court is urged to decline jurisdiction in this case.

- 8 -